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EDITORIAL

Welcome to the tenth edition of The International Comparative Legal Guide to: 
Public Procurement.
This guide provides corporate counsel and international practitioners with 
a comprehensive worldwide legal analysis of public procurement laws and 
regulations.
It is divided into two main sections:
Two general chapters.  These chapters cover the EU Public Procurement Rules 
and the implications of Brexit for public procurement. 
Country question and answer chapters.  These provide a broad overview of 
common issues in public procurement laws and regulations in 22 jurisdictions.
All chapters are written by leading public procurement lawyers and industry 
specialists and we are extremely grateful for their excellent contributions.
Special thanks are reserved for the contributing editors Euan Burrows and 
Edward McNeill of Ashurst LLP for their invaluable assistance.
Global Legal Group hopes that you find this guide practical and interesting.
The International Comparative Legal Guide series is also available online at 
www.iclg.com.

Alan Falach LL.M. 
Group Consulting Editor 
Global Legal Group 
Alan.Falach@glgroup.co.uk
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Chapter 16

BarentsKrans N.V.

Joost Fanoy

Joris Bax

Netherlands

1.3 How does the regime relate to supra-national regimes 
including the GPA, EU rules and other international 
agreements?  

As the DPPA implements the EU-Directives, the DPPA is also 
an implementation of the GPA.  Other general EU rules, such as 
the freedom of establishment and other European principles, are 
implemented in the same way.  If Dutch legislation is not in line 
with European rules, the latter prevails.

1.4 What are the basic underlying principles of the regime 
(e.g. value for money, equal treatment, transparency) 
and are these principles relevant to the interpretation 
of the legislation?

Contracting authorities must act in accordance with the fundamental 
principles of both general EU-law and EU public procurement 
law.  The most important principles that may be distinguished in 
this regard are the principles of equal treatment, transparency and 
proportionality.  Contracting authorities have to act in accordance 
with these principles, even if the value of a certain contract does not 
exceed the applicable threshold.

1.5 Are there special rules in relation to procurement in 
specific	sectors	or	areas?

Part 3 of the DPPA concerns rules for procurement procedures for 
contracts in special sectors, including the water and energy sectors, and 
contracts concerning public transport networks.  Contracts concerning 
public transport must be put up for tender in accordance with the 
Act on public transport 2000 (WP2000).  Finally, the Procurement 
Act on defence and security, implementing EU-Directive 2009/81, 
applies to special contracts concerning the supply of and services 
relating to military and other sensitive material. 

2 Application of the Law to Entities and 
Contracts

2.1 Which public entities are covered by the law (as 
purchasers)?

In accordance with article 1.1 of the DPPA, the Dutch State, 
provinces, municipalities, regional water authorities, bodies 
governed by public law and associations formed by two or more of 
these entities are considered contracting authorities.

1 Relevant Legislation

1.1 What is the relevant legislation and in outline what 
does each piece of legislation cover?

As of 1 April 2013, the Dutch Public Procurement Act (‘DPPA’) is 
in effect.  The DPPA has been modified most recently as per 1 July 
2016, implementing EU-Directives 2014/23/EU, 2014/24/EU and 
2014/25/EU.  The DPPA has been divided into five parts:
■ Part 1: general rules.
■ Part 2: on public procurement, implementing EU-Directive 

2014/24/EU.
■ Part 2A: on the award of concession contracts, implementing 

EU-Directive 2014/23/EU.
■ Part 3: on public procurement in special sectors, implementing 

EU-Directive 2014/25/EU.
■ Part 4: other rules.
The DPPA also contains national rules for contracts with a value not 
exceeding the European threshold values.
The Procurement Decree, which entered into effect as of 1 July 
2016, implements the European Standard form for Procurement 
(ESPD).  It also contains the Procurement Rules for Work Contracts 
(ARW 2016) and the Guide on Proportionality.

1.2 Are there other areas of national law, such as 
government transparency rules, that are relevant to 
public procurement?

Contracting authorities which are part of a governmental body 
are bound by the general principle of good administration, 
including the general requirement of due care.  In this respect, all 
contracts, including those contracts entered into following a public 
procurement procedure, must be in accordance with the principles 
of reasonableness and fairness.
Finally, most contracting authorities which are part of a governmental 
body conduct their own policy for entering into contracts of which 
the value does not exceed the European threshold and are without 
a certain cross-border interest.  Whenever such a policy determines 
that a contract has to put up for tender, even though the value of 
the contract concerned does not exceed the European threshold, 
the contracting authority in question is bound by and has to act in 
accordance with its own policy.
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contracting authority may not exclude tenderers from third countries 
which are Members to the GPA.  These tenderers from third countries 
may also not be discriminated in any way by the rules and requirements 
set by the contracting authority.
An exception to this principle may be found in procurement 
procedures relating to contracts in the special sectors.  Contracting 
authorities in the special sectors may exclude any tenderer if over 50% 
of the supplies offered by that tenderer originates from third countries 
with whom the EU does not have multilateral or bilateral treaties 
concerning equal access to the markets of these third countries for 
European undertakings.

2.5	 Are	there	financial	thresholds	for	determining	
individual contract coverage?

A purchaser must call for a European procurement procedure if the 
value of the contract concerned exceeds the applicable threshold.  
An overview of the applicable thresholds may be found below.  
Please note, however, that these amounts vary from time to time.

Contract Threshold – Public 
Contracts  

Threshold – Special 
Sectors

Works EUR 5,225,000 EUR 5,225,000
Supplies/services - -
Central government EUR 135,000 EUR 418,000
Other contracting 
entities EUR 209,000 EUR 418,000

Social and other 
specific services EUR 750,000 EUR 1,000,000

Concession contracts 
for works or services EUR 5,225,000 -

2.6 Are there aggregation and/or anti-avoidance rules?

It is prohibited for contracting entities to split up contracts with a 
value exceeding the applicable thresholds with the (sole) purpose 
of being able to (privately) award contracts with values below the 
applicable threshold.  It is also prohibited to subdivide a contract 
in order to avoid exceeding the applicable threshold.  Finally, a 
contracting authority may not determine a contract’s value with the 
(sole) purpose that the applicable thresholds are not exceeded.

2.7 Are there special rules for concession contracts and, 
if	so,	how	are	such	contracts	defined?

The DPPA defines a concession contract as a contract with pecuniary 
interest, concluded in writing, by which one or more contracting 
authorities entrust(s) the performance of works and/or services to 
one or more economic operator(s), while granting this operator with 
the exclusive right to exploit the works and/or services which are 
the subject matter of the contract concerned.  Concession contracts 
differ from regular contracts for the economic operator is entrusted 
with the (exclusive) right to exploit the works or services while 
carrying the risk of not being able to recover any investments under 
the awarded contract.
Concession contracts are covered by Part 2A of the DPPA.  A 
European procurement procedure must be called for when the 
value of such a concession contract exceeds the threshold of EUR 
5,225,000.  The part of the DPPA that sees to concession contracts 
differs from other parts of the DPPA in that contracting authorities 
are provided with a wider latitude of stipulating the subject-matter 
of the procurement procedure, provided that the fundamental 
principles of procurement law are respected.

In order for a (private) entity to qualify as a body governed by public 
law (and therewith a public entity), all of the following requirements 
must be met:
■ the entity has been established for the purpose of meeting 

needs in the general interest, not having an industrial or 
commercial character;

■ the entity has legal personality; and
■ the entity is either:

■ financed for the largest part by a contracting   
authority;

■ subject to management supervision of a    
contracting authority; or

■ over half of the members of the entity’s administrative,  
managerial or supervisory board is appointed by a   
contracting authority.

With respect to the so-called special sectors, an entity is considered 
a contracting authority if it concerns a public undertaking or an 
entity operating on an exclusive or special right.

2.2 Which private entities are covered by the law (as 
purchasers)?

Besides the private entities qualifying as bodies governed by public 
law, as discussed above under question 2.1, other private entities 
may also be covered by the DPPA.
First, this may be the case in the so-called special sectors.  In these 
sectors, private entities will have been granted special or exclusive 
rights, because of which the private entity concerned is able to 
operate on an exclusive basis.  These special or exclusive rights will 
have been granted to the private entity concerned by a Member State 
by means of a legislative regulatory or administrative provision, 
limiting the rights of other private entities to exploit activities in the 
fields of water, energy, public transport and postal services.
Second, contracts of private entities, which have been funded 
for over 50% by means of subsidies of one or more contracting 
authorities, are also covered by the DPPA.

2.3 Which types of contracts are covered?

Public contracts (in writing) for pecuniary interest, having the 
performance of works, the supply of products or the providing 
of services as their objectives, between one or more contracting 
authorities and one or more economic operators, are covered by the 
DPPA.
A work contract concerns a contract for the performance of a work 
corresponding to the requirements of the contracting authority.  A 
work contract may also include designing the work.  A contract for 
the supply of products also covers delivery, purchase, lease, rental 
or hire-purchase contracts.  Service contracts are contracts falling 
outside the scope of work or supply contracts.  Social and other 
services mentioned in Annex XIV of Directive 2014/24/EU may be 
awarded in accordance with special procedure. 
Finally, contracts for the concessions of works and services are also 
covered by the DPPA.

2.4 What obligations do purchasers owe to suppliers 
established outside your jurisdiction?

In accordance with the DPPA and the general principles applying to 
public procurement, a contracting authority must treat all tenderers, 
including those from outside the EU equally.  Additionally, a 
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3.2 What are the minimum timescales?

As contracting authorities have to use e-procurement for all contracts 
exceeding the applicable threshold, the minimum timescales are as 
follows:
■  45 days for submission of a tender in the open procedure;
■ 30 days for submission of a request for participation and 

another 40 days for submission of a tender in the restricted 
procedure and the competitive dialogue with negotiations 
procedure; or

■  30 days for submission of a request for participation in 
the innovation partnership and the competitive dialogue 
procedures – there is no further timescale for the following 
phases of these procedures.

In urgent matters the aforementioned timescales may be reduced, 
provided that the contracting authority is able to substantiate why it 
meets the applicable requirements.

3.3 What are the rules on excluding/short-listing 
tenderers?

Tenderers may only be excluded in situations stipulated by the DPPA 
(for instance, if the tenderer has been convicted of participation in a 
criminal organisation or a cartel) or if the grounds for exclusion are 
announced explicitly in the tender documents (for instance, if the 
tender documents stipulate that a tenderer may be excluded in case 
of bankruptcy or if the tenderer has shown significant or persistent 
deficiencies in the performance of prior public contracts).
Selection or short-listing of tenderers is only permitted in case of a 
procurement procedure and based on the selection criteria provided 
for in the tender documents.  These criteria may refer either to the 
tenderer’s technical and/or professional abilities or to the tenderer’s 
economic and/or financial position.

3.4 What are the rules on evaluation of tenders?  In 
particular, to what extent are factors other than price 
taken into account (e.g. social value)?

In general, the contracting authority must draw up all the applicable 
rules and requirements for the award procedure beforehand in the 
tender documents, respecting the principles of equal treatment and 
transparency.  These rules and requirements have to be sufficiently 
clear, for all reasonably informed tenderers exercising ordinary 
care should be able to understand and interpret these rules and 
requirements in the same way.
The DPPA stipulates that contracting authorities, in principle, have 
to award contracts based on the best price-quality ratio.  Therefore, 
besides the price, elements concerning the quality of the performance 
of the contract must be taken into account when awarding a contract.  
These factors may include the production process, aesthetics and 
delivery dates.  Only if the contracting authority expects that factors 
concerning the quality will not be of influence in its choice between 
the tenderers, the contracting authority may award the contract 
based solely on price or life-cycle costs.  In that case, the contracting 
authority concerned has to substantiate this decision in the tender 
documents.

3.5 What are the rules on the evaluation of abnormally 
low tenders? 

The DPPA stipulates that contracting authorities, when suspecting a 
tender to be abnormally low, have to request an explanation in relation 

2.8 Are there special rules for the conclusion of 
framework agreements?

Framework agreements may be concluded with one or more 
economic operators.  If a framework agreement is to be concluded 
with two or more operators, the contracting authority in question 
may call for a (mini) tender procedure among the concerned 
operators for the specific underlying contracts.
Framework agreements may not be concluded for periods exceeding 
a term of four years.  Framework agreements are concluded in 
accordance with the same rules that are applicable to regular 
contracts.

2.9 Are there special rules on the division of contracts 
into lots?

The DPPA does not prohibit a contract to be divided into lots and 
even calls upon contracting authorities to try to divide contracts into 
lots as much as possible.  In order to determine, whether or not the 
applicable threshold is exceeded, however, the total value of all lots 
must be determined.  It is, nevertheless, possible for a contracting 
authority to award one or more lots with one or more new contracts.
In accordance with the DPPA, contracting authorities have to divide 
a contract into lots if various contracts are combined.  There is no 
such obligation if the concerned contracting authority is able to 
substantiate why this division would nevertheless be unsuitable.

3 Award Procedures

3.1 What types of award procedures are available?  
Please specify the main stages of each procedure and 
whether there is a free choice amongst them.

In the general sectors, contracting authorities are free in their choice 
between the open and restricted procedure regarding the award of 
contracts with a value exceeding the applicable threshold.  In this 
respect, the concerned contracting authority may choose to apply the 
competitive dialogue, the innovation partnership, the competitive 
procedure with negotiations, the design contest and the negotiation 
procedure without prior notification where applicable.
In case the procedure concerns any of the special sectors, the 
contracting authority has the open procedure, the restricted 
procedure and the negotiation procedure with prior notification 
at its disposal if the value of the contract exceeds the applicable 
threshold.  In case of specific circumstances, contracting authorities 
may also apply the negotiation procedure without prior notification, 
a design contest or the innovation partnership.
There is no defined procedure for awarding concession contracts 
with a value exceeding the applicable threshold.  The concerned 
contracting authority must determine itself whether the tender meets 
the technical requirements, assess proposals in light of the criteria 
set and determine whether one or more of the grounds for exclusions 
is met.  In addition, the general principles of equal treatment and 
transparency must be respected at all times.
Contracting authorities must decide which procedure to apply based 
on all relevant circumstances of the contract at hand.
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Alternative bids, however, are not permitted in case tenderers 
must file their best and final offer at the same time.  This is usually 
different in special procedures such as the competitive dialogue with 
negotiations or the innovation partnership procedure.

3.10	 What	are	the	rules	on	conflicts	of	interest?

The DPPA stipulates that contracting authorities must take suitable 
measures in order to prevent conflicts of interest.  In this respect, 
tenderers may even be excluded from the procurement procedure 
if there are no other alternatives available for avoiding a conflict 
of interest.

3.11 What are the rules on market engagement and the 
involvement of potential bidders in the preparation of 
a procurement procedure?

The DPPA does not provide special rules for contracting authorities 
engaging the market.  Article 40 of EU-Directive 2014/24/EU 
permits contracting authorities to conduct a preliminary market 
consultation in order to gain advice on the procurement procedure 
and the technical requirements.  Such a market consultation 
must be in accordance with the principles of equal treatment and 
transparency and may not result in a conflict of interest. 

4 Exclusions and Exemptions (including 
in-house arrangements)

4.1 What are the principal exclusions/exemptions?

The principal exemptions are:
■ public contracts awarded with a (quasi-) in-house exemption;
■ contracts awarded between contracting authorities to perform 

public services;
■ exclusive rights;
■ contracts awarded pursuant to international rules; and
■ specific exemptions for service contracts.

4.2 How does the law apply to “in-house” arrangements, 
including contracts awarded within a single entity, 
within groups and between public bodies? 

The DPPA only applies to contracts awarded between two separate 
legal entities.  A contract awarded through an in-house arrangement 
is exempted from the DPPA as there is no separate contractor.  
Contracts awarded between contracting authorities, however, are 
subject to the DPPA.  These contracts are only exempted if they 
meet the conditions for (quasi-) in-house contracts. 
Another noteworthy exemption is the exemption for contracts 
awarded between contracting authorities, by means of which a 
cooperation between the participating contracting authorities is 
established with the purpose of ensuring the performance of public 
services. 

to the proposed price or costs from the tenderer in question.  This 
explanation may relate to, i.e., the efficiency of the manufacturing 
process, the technical solutions chosen and/or the originality of the 
proposed works.  If the explanation does not satisfy the contracting 
authority, it may decide to exclude the tenderer.
It is noteworthy that competitors do not have the right to argue that 
the prices or costs of their competitor are abnormally low.  Under 
the DPPA, whether or not an offer should be considered abnormally 
low and whether this tenderer should give an explanation with 
respect to the prices or costs it proposed, is up to the sole discretion 
of the contracting authority concerned.

3.6 What are the rules on awarding the contract? 

All rules on awarding the contract must be drawn up in the tender 
documents in a clear, precise and unequivocal manner, for all 
reasonably informed tenderers exercising ordinary care must be able 
to understand and interpret these rules in the same way. 
In its award decision, the contracting authority must give a 
substantiation for its decision to award the contract to a certain 
tenderer.  This substantiation has to contain sufficient information, 
for the other tenderers must be able to verify whether the contract 
has been rightfully awarded in accordance with the applicable rules.

3.7	 What	are	the	rules	on	debriefing	unsuccessful	
bidders?

The contracting authority must provide every unsuccessful tenderer 
with a motivated award decision by which every:
■ unsuccessful tenderer is able to understand the reasons as to 

why it has not been selected;
■ unsuccessful tenderer is able to understand the particular 

advantages of the winning tenderer compared to its own 
tender; and

■ excluded tenderer is able to understand the reasons as to  
why it has been excluded.

In addition, the award decision must mention the name of the winner, 
next to a concrete description of the standstill period.  This period 
has to be at least 20 days for European procurement procedures.

3.8 What methods are available for joint procurements? 

The DPPA provides contracting authorities with the possibility 
to organise a joint procurement procedure with two or more 
authorities.  This is also possible with contracting authorities from 
different Member States.
Contracting authorities are able to set up central purchasing 
bodies.  These bodies purchase supplies or services on behalf of the 
participating contracting authorities.  The participating contracting 
authorities may then purchase their supplies and services from this 
central purchasing body.  Central purchasing bodies must follow the 
rules for procurement when setting up a procurement procedure.

3.9 What are the rules on alternative/variant bids?

Contracting authorities may allow tenderers to file alternative bids.  
Such must be explicitly announced in the notification to tender and 
is only permitted in case a contract is awarded on the basis of the 
best price-quality ratio. 
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5.5 What measures can be taken to shorten limitation 
periods?    

Tender documents usually contain a provision by means of which 
legal measures against the award decision are limited in time, while 
determining that interim relief proceedings must be initiated within 
a certain period after the award decision, at the risk of all possible 
claims lapsing.

5.6 What remedies are available after contract signature?   

Tenderers may bring actions before the competent court after a 
contract has been concluded in order to have that contract declared 
void.  Reasons for declaring a contract void would be that the 
concerned contract had been concluded without calling for European 
procurement procedure while that contract’s value exceeds the 
applicable threshold or that the standstill period has been ignored 
by the contracting authority.  In addition, tenderers may also bring 
actions for damages after a contract has been concluded.

5.7 What is the likely timescale if an application for 
remedies is made? 

The average length of interim relief proceedings in first instance is 
about six to eight weeks after the writ of summons has been served 
on the defendant.  The average length of proceedings on the merits 
for declaring an existing contract void or claiming damages may be 
estimated at about 1–1.5 years after the writ of summons has been 
served on the defendant.

5.8 What are the leading examples of cases in which 
remedies measures have been obtained?     

Most judgments from the civil courts are published on www.
rechtspraak.nl.  As most proceedings are preliminary proceedings 
and fact based, not all of them contain general rulings.  Examples 
of often cited landmark cases include Dutch State v KPN and Ricoh 
v Xerox. 
In the Dutch State v KPN case before the Dutch Supreme Court 
(2012), KPN challenged its exclusion of one of the Dutch State’s 
tenders for non-disclosure of the fact that it had breached a decree 
of the Independent Post and Telecommunications Authority.  The 
Dutch State, however, failed to include a breach of a decree or 
resolution of some sorts as a ground for exclusion in its tender 
documents.  According to the Supreme Court, with referral to the 
Succhi di Frutta-case (C-496/99) before the European Court of 
Justice, the principles of transparency and equal treatment preclude 
such an exclusion if the tender documents at hand lack a ground 
thereto.  According to the Supreme Court, contracting authorities 
furthermore have to include all reasons for awarding a contract or 
excluding a tenderer in their decisions.  It is not permitted to add 
(additional) reasons in further communications afterwards.
The Ricoh v Xerox case before the Dutch Supreme Court (2014) 
concerned the situation that the tenderer who originally won the 
tender had been excluded from the tender later on after the award 
decision.  The contracting authority proceeded by awarding the 
contract to the tenderer finishing in second place, while the scores 
of the decision to award the contract were calculated on the basis 
of a comparison between all tenderers, including the tenderer that 
had been excluded.  The tenderer, finishing in third place, brought 
an action against this decision, arguing that with the exclusion of 
this tenderer, the contracting authority should recalculate the scores 

5 Remedies 

5.1 Does the legislation provide for remedies and if so 
what is the general outline of this?

Remedies for infringement of the DPPA may be sought in 
accordance with Dutch civil law.  When objecting against the award 
of a contract to a competitor, an action may be brought in interim 
relief proceedings before the competent District Court.  An action 
for interim relief has to be initiated before expiration of the standstill 
period, which usually concerns a period of 20 days counted from the 
day following the day on which the award decision has been given. 
Besides bringing an action against the award of a contract to a 
competitor in interim relief proceedings, existing contracts may also 
be declared void (in case of infringement of the DPPA) in proceedings 
on the merits.  Contracts, however, may only be declared void if the 
value of the contract concerned exceeds the applicable threshold, while 
the contracting authority failed calling for a European procurement 
procedure, or if the contracting authority ignored the standstill period. 
Finally, a tenderer may claim damages, provided that he is able to prove 
that he would have won (or had a fair chance to win) the procurement 
procedure if the contracting authority would not have infringed that 
tenderer’s rights by breaching the law on public procurement.

5.2 Can remedies be sought in other types of proceedings 
or applications outside the legislation?

Besides bringing an action before the competent Courts, tenderers 
may file complaints through internal complaint procedures of the 
contracting authorities and eventually with the Commission of 
Procurement Experts (Commissie van Aanbestedingsexperts).  
Recommendations of neither institute, however, will bind the 
concerned contracting authorities.

5.3 Before which body or bodies can remedies be 
sought?   

In the Netherlands, remedies may be sought by bringing an action 
before the competent civil court.  Actions concerning the award 
decisions of contracting authorities must be brought in interim 
relief proceedings before the competent District Court.  Actions 
concerning the validity of existing contracts and actions for damages 
must be brought in proceedings on the merits before the competent 
District Court.

5.4 What are the limitation periods for applying for 
remedies? 

Most tender procedures mention the period during which interim relief 
proceedings may be initiated against the award decision.  This period 
usually follows the standstill period of 20 days.
In order to have a certain (existing) contract declared void, the party 
concerned must bring an action in proceedings on the merits within 30 
days from the notification that a contract has been concluded.  If no 
such notification has been published by the contracting authority, this 
period extends to six months from the day that the contract has been 
concluded. 
Actions for damages must be brought before the competent court 
within a period of five years, counted from the day that the claimant 
became aware of an action resulting in damages, i.e. the infringement 
of the law on public procurement.
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has been terminated and a new procurement has been initiated or 
in case the changes are exempted by the DPPA.  Changes are, for 
example, permitted if: 
■ a clear, precise and unequivocal review clause in the initial 

procurement documents provides for such changes;
■ additional works, services and/or supplies are necessary for 

completion of the initial contract;
■ the changes are not material (for example, represent a value 

less than 10% of the total value of the contract); or
■ these changes are necessary due to unforeseen circumstances.

6.4 To what extent does the legislation permit the 
transfer of a contract to another entity post-contract 
signature?

The transfer of an awarded contract to another entity is only 
permitted if the specific requirements as set out in article 2.163f 
of the DPPA are met or the transfer does not constitute a material 
change of the contract.

7 Privatisations and PPPs

7.1 Are there special rules in relation to privatisations and 
what are the principal issues that arise in relation to 
them?

There are no specific rules in relation to privatisations.  Only if 
privatisations lead to the procurement of goods, works or services, 
such a privatisation is subject to the DPPA.

7.2 Are there special rules in relation to PPPs and what 
are the principal issues that arise in relation to them?

There are no specific rules in relation to PPPs.  Only when founding 
a PPP leads to the procurement of goods, works or services, this will 
be subject to the DPPA.  Usually, contracting authorities wishing 
to enter into a PPP will begin a procurement procedure in order to 
select a partner for the PPP and to procure the goods, works and/or 
services the PPP must produce or develop.

8 Enforcement

8.1 Is there a culture of enforcement either by public or 
private bodies?

The concept of public enforcement of procurement law does 
not exist in the Netherlands.  Private entities may only enforce 
procurement law by seeking remedies for alleged procurement law 
infringements.  Remedies may only be obtained in relation to a 
specific procurement procedure or contract. 

8.2 What national cases in the last 12 months have 
confirmed/clarified	an	important	point	of	public	
procurement law?

Please see the answer to question 5.8.

based on a new comparison between the two remaining tenderers.  
In the third and final instance, the Supreme Court ruled that, in 
general, a system in which scores are determined by comparing 
all tenderer’s offers with each other, does not infringe the DPPA, 
provided that the tender documents clearly stipulate how the scores 
are determined.  According to the Supreme Court, there is no general 
obligation to recalculate scores of the remaining tenderers if one or 
more tenderers were to be excluded.  As the above was sufficiently 
clear for all reasonably informed tenderers exercising ordinary care 
in this case, the contracting authority did not infringe the principles 
of transparency or equal treatment by awarding the contract to the 
tenderer originally finishing in second place.
Advice of the Commission of Procurement Experts is published 
on www.aanbestedingsexperts.nl.  This advice is not binding and 
fact-based.  It can be relevant in legal proceedings and for the daily 
practice.

5.9 What mitigation measures, if any, are available to 
contracting authorities?

In the Netherlands, there is no legislation concerning mitigation 
measures.  Instead, it is common practice for contracting authorities to 
require tenderers that they initiate interim relief proceedings within a 
period of 20 days following the day of the award decision.  Exceeding 
this period usually results into the claimant forfeiting all of his rights.

6 Changes During a Procedure and After a 
Procedure

6.1 Does the legislation govern changes to contract 
specifications,	changes	to	the	timetable,	changes	
to contract conditions (including extensions) and 
changes to the membership of bidding consortia 
pre-contract award?  If not, what are the underlying 
principles governing these issues?

The DPPA does not provide any specific rules regarding changes.  
Instead, changes are covered by the underlying principles of equal 
treatment and transparency.
In this respect, changes to the procedure, the contract and the 
requirements are only permitted if these changes were included in 
the tender documents by the contracting authority, provided that 
the concerned provision were also drawn up in a clear, precise and 
unequivocal manner.  If there are material changes in the contract 
or the procurement procedure itself, it is most probable that a new 
procurement procedure has to be initiated,  taking into account the 
full minimum timescale for submitting a tender and including the 
possibilities to submit new questions regarding the tender documents. 
Changes to a bidding consortium, in general, are not permitted in 
light of the principles of equal treatment and transparency.

6.2 What is the scope for negotiation with the preferred 
bidder	following	the	submission	of	a	final	tender?

Negotiations are not allowed with the preferred bidder, except for 
negotiations resulting into minor effect or the kind of negotiations 
that are exempted under the DPPA.

6.3 To what extent are changes permitted post-contract 
signature?

Changes post-contract signature are only permitted if the contract 
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for instance, now have an obligation to draw up a contract in such 
a way, that it is also accessible for SMEs.  In addition, it is also 
prohibited for contracting authorities to combine contracts without 
a sufficient motivation.  If contracts are combined, the contracting 
authority must divide the contract into lots.

9.3 Have there been any regulatory developments which 
are expected to impact on the law and if so what is the 
timescale for these and what is their likely impact?

At this moment, no (significant) new changes are expected for the 
near future.
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9 The Future

9.1 Are there any proposals to change the law and if so 
what is the timescale for these and what is their likely 
impact?

The DPPA of 1 July 2016 implements EU Directives 2014/23/EU 
(procurement of concession contracts), 2014/24/EU (procurement 
of public contracts) and 2014/25/EU (procurement in the special 
sectors).  New national rules and procedural rules have also been 
included in the Act of 1 July 2016.  No (significant) new changes in 
the legislation are expected at the moment.

9.2 Are any measures being taken to increase access to 
public procurement markets for small and medium-
sized enterprises and other underrepresented 
categories of bidders?

The DPPA contains measures for increasing chances for small and 
medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) to access certain markets.  With 
the 1 July 2016 amendment of the DPPA, contracting authorities, 
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